Standards for Foster Homes

Approved under the Child, Family and Community Service Act 1998



Ministry of Children and Family Development

[Revised to include Smoke Free Environment for Children in Care policy: May 2008]

Acknowledgments

Developing the Standards for Foster Homes has involved the hard work and dedication of many people over a period of years. While it is not possible to list the names of every individual, the Standards for Foster Homes Committee acknowledges all of the valuable contributions that have been made.

The Standards for Foster Homes have been developed with the participation of the British Columbia Federation of Foster Parent Associations and the Federation of BC Youth in Care Networks.

Message from the Minister & the BC Federation of Foster Parent Associations

Foster families in British Columbia do very important work in building brighter futures for children, providing safety and nurturing while meeting many challenges.

The Standards for Foster Homes describe the expected level of service for children and youth in care residing in foster homes. These mandatory standards are intended to ensure that children and youth in care receive services of the highest possible quality. We hope this document will be useful to foster families and ministry staff working together to achieve this goal.

Kay Dahl President British Columbia Federation of Foster Parent Associations

Ross Dawson Director of Child Protection Ministry of Children and Family Development

Contents

INTRODUCTION	—
USING THIS DOCUMENT	
THE CHILD, FAMILY AND COMMUNITY SERVICE ACT	
DEFINITIONS	
A. Relating to Children and Their Families	
B. Safeguarding Children	1
C. Planning	1
D. Caring for Children	2
E. Environment of Care	3
F. Foster Home Administration	3
Appendices	∠
Appendix 1. When a Child is Missing, Lost or Runaway	4
Appendix 2. Key Elements of Training for Caregivers in the Use of Physical Restraint	
Appendix 3. The Comprehensive Plan of Care	∠

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

Introduction

The purpose of the Standards for Foster Homes is to ensure consistent, high quality foster care services for children and youth in care. The standards in this document are well-researched and establish a structured, useable and effective approach to caring for children in foster homes. The standards state what children in care, families, caregivers, ministry staff and the public can expect of foster care services in British Columbia.

The standards are mandatory and describe expected outcomes for children and youth in care who reside in foster homes, including the practical steps caregivers must take to achieve the expected outcomes.

The standards in this document apply to:

of ster homes approved by a director designated under Section 91 of the *Child*, *Family and Community Service Act* where the caregiver resides in the care setting and has no more than one full-time-equivalent employee*, and individual foster homes subcontracted by or in the employ of a specialized residential resource contractor and employing not more than one full-time-equivalent employee*. Foster families, children in care and social workers will benefit by referring to, and discussing together, the individual standards on a regular basis. Working together to achieve the desired outcomes stated in the individual standards will promote a positive experience for the child or youth in care and the foster family. Furthermore, it will confirm for the foster parent that they are providing a service for children in care that meets or exceeds provincial standards.

A useful reference on foster care is the Foster Family Handbook which was developed by the British Columbia Federation of Foster Parent Associations and the Ministry of Children and Family Development. It provides essential information on the Family Care Home program.

^{*} One full-time-equivalent employee is a person or persons whose total combined working hours are 40 hours per week. (Exemption: A person or persons providing relief care services for the foster parents while residing either in the foster parents' usual place of dwelling or in their own usual place of dwelling.)

Using this Document

The Standards for Foster Homes is divided into the following categories which cover key areas in the delivery of services to children and youth:

- Relating to Children and Their Families
- Safeguarding Children
- Planning
- Caring for Children
- Environment of Care
- Foster Home Administration.

Each category contains standards. Individual standards are set out in the following format:

Standard

- The standards in this document describe expected outcomes for children and youth in care who reside in foster homes.
- Caregivers must comply with each standard for every child placed in their care.

Commentary

• Provides further explanation and rationale for the standard.

Results for Children

- Identify what the child experiences when the standard has been met and the desired outcome has been achieved.
- Relate to personal perceptions of the child and do not require the child to form judgments about the effectiveness or quality of the service.

Caregiver Practices

- Identify the practical steps the caregiver must take to comply with the standard and achieve the desired outcome.
- Reflect the best practices in caring for children.

The Results for Children and Caregiver Practices categories provide a number of criteria for measuring compliance with the individual standards. Rarely is there a single criterion which can reliably measure the outcome of a service. Therefore, the combination of a number of criteria must be considered in making a reasonable judgment of the extent to which the desired outcome has been achieved.

2

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

The Child, Family and Community Service Act

The Child, Family and Community Service Act (1996) is the provincial legislation that provides the legal authority for child welfare services in British Columbia, including foster care. The Standards for Foster Homes must be administered and interpreted within the context of this *Act*.

The following four sections of the Child, Family and Community Service Act are of particular importance to understanding and applying the standards in this document:

- Guiding Principles (section 2)
- Service Delivery Principles (section 3)
- Best Interests of Child (section 4)
- Rights of Children in Care (section 70).

Guiding Principles

The Guiding Principles form the basis for practice and decision-making under the Act. They reflect society's values regarding children and families. It is important to note that this section of the act directs that the safety and well-being of children is the paramount consideration in all decisions and actions taken under the Act.

- the safety and well-being of children are the paramount considerations;
- children are entitled to be protected from abuse, neglect and harm or threat of harm:
- a family is the preferred environment for the care and upbringing of children and the responsibility for the protection of children rests primarily with the parents;
- if, with available support services, a family can provide a safe and nurturing environment for a child, support services should be provided;
- the child's views should be taken into account when decisions relating to a child are made:
- kinship ties and a child's attachment to the extended family should be preserved if possible;
- the cultural identity of aboriginal children should be preserved; and
- decisions relating to children should be made and implemented in a timely manner.

Service Delivery Principles

The Service Delivery Principles define the manner in which all services under the Act are to be delivered.

- families and children should be informed of the services available to them and encouraged to participate in decisions that affect them;
- Aboriginal people should be involved in the planning and delivery of services to Aboriginal families and their children;

- services should be planned and provided in ways that are sensitive to the needs and the cultural, racial and religious heritage of those receiving the services;
- services should be integrated, wherever possible and appropriate, with services provided by other ministries and community agencies; and
- the community should be involved, wherever possible and appropriate, in the planning and delivery of services, including preventive and support services to families and children.

Best Interests of the Child

The *Child*, *Family and Community Service Act* states that actions and decisions must take into consideration the best interests of the child. Because the concept of a child's best interests can mean different things to different people, the *Act* specifies that all relevant factors must be considered in determining the child's best interests, including the following:

- the child's safety;
- the child's physical and emotional needs and level of development;
- the importance of continuity in the child's care;
- the quality of the relationship the child has with a parent or other person and the effect of maintaining that relationship;
- the child's cultural, racial, linguistic and religious heritage;
- the child's views; and
- the effect on the child if there is delay in making a decision.

If the child is an Aboriginal child, the importance of preserving the child's cultural identity must be considered in determining the child's best interests.

Rights of Children in Care

The rights of children and youth in care are enshrined in the *Act* as legal requirements that are enforceable. The rights must be affirmed and respected by everyone working with children and youth in care including social workers and caregivers. It is the responsibility of every caregiver to ensure that any services they provide to children are consistent with the rights.

Anyone who believes that the rights of a child or youth in care have been violated can make a complaint to the Ministry of Children and Family Development. The ministry will attempt to resolve the concern through informal consultation. If the concern is not resolved in this manner, it can be submitted to the ministry's formal complaint resolution process.

Under section 70 of the *Child, Family and Community Service Act*, children in care have the following rights:

• to be fed, clothed and nurtured according to community standards and to be given the same quality of care as other children (including the caregiver's children) in the placement;

- to be informed about their plans of care;
- to be consulted and to express their views, according to their abilities, about significant decisions affecting them;
- to reasonable privacy and to possession of their personal belongings;
- to be free from corporal punishment;
- to be informed of the standard of behaviour expected by their caregivers and of the consequences of not meeting their caregiver's expectations;
- to receive medical and dental care when required;
- to participate in social and recreational activities if available and appropriate and according to their abilities and interests;
- to receive the religious instruction and to participate in the religious activities of their choice:
- to receive guidance and encouragement to maintain their cultural heritage;
- to be provided with an interpreter if language or disability is a barrier to consulting with them on decisions affecting their custody or care;
- to privacy during discussions with members of their families, subject to any court order made after the court has had an opportunity to consider the question of access to the child;
- to privacy during discussions with a lawyer, the Office for Children and Youth, the Ombudsman, a Member of the Legislative Assembly or a Member of Parliament;
- to be informed about and to be assisted in contacting the Office for Children and Youth; and
- to be informed of their rights under the act and the procedures available for enforcing their rights.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team 5

Definitions

Caregiver:

Person with whom a child is placed by a director and who, by agreement with the director, has assumed responsibility for the child's day-to-day care.

Caregiver Practices:

Statements describing the actions expected of a caregiver in providing a particular aspect of service. The statements are criteria for measuring the extent to which the relevant standard has been met.

Caregiver's responsibility under the comprehensive plan of care:

The specific services the child will receive from the caregiver, as identified in the comprehensive plan of care.

Child:

Person under the age of 19 years, placed with a caregiver by a director, and includes a youth.

Child's individual service record:

Information related to a child placed in the home, maintained on an individualized basis. The record belongs to the director and forms part of the director's records for the child.

Comprehensive life skills:

Those age and developmentally appropriate skills imparted to the child which include but are not limited to:

- self-advocacy skills;
- interpersonal relationships;
- self-care habits that promote personal safety and well-being;
- problem-solving and decision-making;
- independent living skills;
- social skills:
- traditional cultural activities;
- exploring vocational opportunities;
- accessing and using community resources and services;
- use and value of money; and
- communication skills

Confinement:

The state of being held within a space from which the person is not able to exit without the permission of another and within which his or her movements may be restricted.

6

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

Director:

Person designated by the Minister of Children and Family Development under section 91 of the *Child, Family and Community Service Act* to ensure the safety and well-being of children in British Columbia.

Emergency plan:

A plan, specific to a household, which describes emergency procedures including but not limited to:

- the method of getting out of the house in the case of fire;
- the location of safe places in each room of the house in the case of an earthquake; and
- emergency telephone numbers to call in the case of other situations (or, if no telephone, describes how to obtain help in emergencies).

Exit:

A passage providing safe access out of a building to ground level.

Others of significance:

Persons identified in the comprehensive plan of care as being important to the child.

Parent:

Includes:

- the mother of a child:
- the father of a child;
- a person to whom custody of a child has been granted by a court of competent jurisdiction or by an agreement; or
- a person with whom a child resides and who stands in the place of the child's mother or father but does not include a caregiver or director.

Physical environment:

The building in which the child is accommodated as well as the ground surrounding the building. Includes detached buildings in the immediate vicinity used to store vehicles and equipment, or to house animals.

Restraint:

The act of intentionally restricting the ability of a child or youth to move or take action.

Results for Children:

That which is expected to occur as a result of the provision of a particular aspect of service, and which provides a measure of the extent to which the relevant standard has been met.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

Right:

A specific entitlement recognized by law as defined in the *Child, Family and Community Service Act* and other relevant legislation.

Smoke Free Environment:

Smoking does not take place at any time in enclosed spaces where children in care would be exposed to second-hand smoke or the residual toxins from second hand smoke. This includes a foster parent's residence and vehicle. This does not restrict spiritual activities relating to the use of tobacco.

Standard:

A statement describing the outcome which is expected to occur in response to the provision of a specific component of service. Compliance is mandatory.

Time-out:

An intervention in which the child or youth removes themselves or is removed from the immediate setting. The intervention is to be reasonable under the circumstances, and is intended to benefit the child or youth for the purpose of regaining self control. The period of time involved:

- is brief:
- has a predetermined maximum; and
- takes into consideration the developmental needs of the child.

Significant life events:

Events which hold substantial meaning for children, for example, birthdays, graduations, personal losses, traditional holidays and anniversaries.

Transition:

A significant change in the life of the child as identified in the child's comprehensive plan of care and caregiver's responsibility under the comprehensive plan of care.

Youth:

Person who is 16 years of age or over but is under 19 years of age, placed with a caregiver by a director.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

Relating to Children and their Families Α.

STANDARD A.1 Rights of Children and Youth in Care

Children and youth are assisted to understand their rights under the *Child*, *Family* and Community Service Act and the procedures for enforcing them.

Commentary

The guarantee of special rights to children and youth in care is one way of ensuring that children and youth in care are empowered as active partners of parents, social workers and caregivers in planning their future. This active participation encourages them to become self-determining adults in future years. Furthermore, it is important that children and youth in care get help with any problems they are experiencing in care before the situation deteriorates to the point where a formal complaint is registered. This is more likely to occur in an environment where children's rights are clearly honoured and fulfilled.

Results for Children

- A.1.1 Children and youth confirm that they understand their rights under the *Child*, Family and Community Service Act and the procedures for enforcing them.
- A.1.2 Children and youth confirm that their rights are fulfilled.

Caregiver Practices

- A.1.3 The caregiver assists children and youth in understanding their rights under the Child, Family and Community Service Act and the procedures for enforcing them.
- A.1.4 The caregiver conducts their duties in a manner consistent with the rights of children and youth in care.

STANDARD A.2 **Involving Children and Their Families in Decision-Making**

Children and their families are consulted and encouraged to express their views.

Commentary

Significant decisions affecting children and families include those that are seen from their perspective as significant. Children and families need to be able to express their views in clear and constructive ways as part of the decision-making process. The practice of consulting with children and families involves sharing information, listening to views, considering views and finding ways of incorporating views into decisions. Children and

DATE: May 2008

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

youth in care often sense that their fate is decided by unfamiliar adults who make decisions over which the child or youth has no control. When social workers and caregivers demonstrate to children and youth that their views will be seriously considered, children and youth are encouraged to develop trust in adults and self-determination.

Results for Children

- A.2.1 Children confirm that they are consulted and are able to express their views about decisions that affect them.
- A.2.2 Children confirm their views are not automatically subordinated to the views of their family or others.
- A.2.3 Children and their family members confirm that, within the context of the child's comprehensive plan of care, they are consulted in decisions which affect them.

Caregiver Practices

- A.2.4 The caregiver consults with the child regarding significant decisions that affect the child.
- A.2.5 Within the context of the child's comprehensive plan of care, the caregiver consults with the child's family regarding significant decisions that affect the family and the lives of their children.
- A.2.6 The opinions and views of children and their families are listened to and the caregiver ensures that those views are considered in the decision-making process.

STANDARD A.3 Complaint Resolution

Children are encouraged to express their concerns and any complaint is addressed seriously and without delay.

Commentary

It is important that children and youth in care become comfortable in asserting themselves in constructive ways, including when expressing dissatisfaction. Providing an environment of care in which children and youth are encouraged to express dissatisfaction in a constructive manner will reduce the likelihood of circumstances deteriorating to the point where a formal complaint is registered.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

Results for Children

- A.3.1 Children confirm that the caregiver encourages them to bring their concerns into the open and has supported, or believes the caregiver would support them to formulate and present a complaint to the appropriate authority.
- A.3.2 Children confirm that they are aware of the internal complaints process of the Ministry of Children and Family Development.
- A.3.3 Children confirm that they are informed about and assisted to contact the Office for Children and Youth.
- A.3.4 Children who have made complaints confirm that the complaints were dealt with, even if not resulting in agreement.

Caregiver Practices

- A.3.5 The caregiver assists children in understanding that they are entitled to discuss all matters, including any problems or complaints, affecting them with their social worker, their caregiver or other appropriate authorities. Other appropriate authorities include, but are not limited to:
 - a) the Office for Children and Youth;
 - b) the Ombudsman; and
 - c) the Information and Privacy Commissioner.
- A.3.6 The caregiver informs the child about and assists them to contact the Office for Children and Youth.
- A.3.7 The caregiver assists children in understanding that there will be no reprisals for lodging a complaint.
- A.3.8 The caregiver keeps a record of the incidence and outcomes of complaints.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team 11

B. Safeguarding Children

STANDARD B.1 Child's Personal Safety

Children are protected from harm or the threat of harm from self or others.

Commentary

The safety and well-being of children are the paramount considerations under the *Child*, *Family and Community Service Act*. It is the responsibility of the caregiver and the child's social worker to take all reasonable steps to reduce the level of risk that a child may be exposed to. This is a fundamental requirement for the healthy development of the child.

Results for Children

- B.1.1 Children confirm that they have not been harmed and that they know how to contact their social worker or a responsible adult if they do not feel safe.
- B.1.2 Children are aware of the purpose of, and know how to use, emergency telephone numbers.

Caregiver Practices

- B.1.3 If the caregiver observes, or has reported to them, any indication of abuse or neglect of a child, the caregiver promptly reports the information to a social worker.
- B.1.4 The caregiver takes immediate action to ensure the safety of a child who has been harmed, threatened with harm, or feels unsafe.
- B.1.5 The caregiver conducts regular checks on the child on a daily basis to ensure the child is safe and well.
- B.1.6 The caregiver provides additional information about the care and circumstances of the child as requested by the child's social worker.
- B.1.7 The caregiver assists in the development and implementation of a supervision plan for children who have been victims of perpetrators of abuse.
- B.1.8 The caregiver ensures that emergency telephone numbers are clearly displayed near the telephone(s) for the use of children.
- B.1.9 The caregiver notifies the child's social worker as soon as possible, prior to any move of the household.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

STANDARD B.2 Reportable Incidents

All information of significance to the safety and well-being of children is promptly reported to a social worker.

Commentary

If the social worker is unavailable, the report is made to another social worker or the supervisor in the same district office. After regular office hours, the report is made to an After Hours social worker. After Hours social workers are available 24 hours per day, seven days per week.

Results for Children

B.2.1 Children confirm that they have been informed about reportable incidents and about what will happen if such an incident occurs.

Caregiver Practices

- B.2.2 The caregiver notifies the child's social worker immediately after the occurrence of any of the following reportable incidents in order that the child's social worker can plan for the ongoing safety and well-being of the child:
 - a) the death of a child or youth;
 - b) accident or illness of a child or youth requiring medical treatment or hospitalization;
 - c) allegations of abuse, neglect or mistreatment of a child or youth;
 - d) any displays of self-injurious or high-risk behaviour by a child or youth;
 - e) gestures, threats, or attempts of suicide by a child or youth;
 - f) situations when a child or youth is missing, lost or runaway, including any subsequent information obtained about the child or youth during the absence (see Appendix 1 for more information);
 - g) situations when a child or youth has observed, been involved in, or exposed to a high-risk situation or disaster, such as a fire or multiple abuse situation in a school, that may cause emotional trauma or post-traumatic stress;
 - h) any intervention by the police or law enforcement authorities with a child or youth;
 - i) situations involving the use of physical restraint or any other prohibited behaviour management practices;
 - j) the unauthorized removal or attempted removal of a child or youth from the home, facility, school or day program;
 - k) marked behavioural changes exhibited by a child or youth;
 - 1) suspension of a child or youth from their school or day program;
 - m) plans, not previously authorized, for the child or youth to be cared for by another person overnight; and
 - n) any other circumstance affecting the safety or well-being of a child or youth.

- B.2.3 The caregiver notifies at least the resource social worker of the following incidents in order that the resource social worker can support the caregiver in planning for the short- and long-term viability of the placement for the child or youth:
 - a) limitation in the ability of the caregiver to meet the safety and well-being needs of a child or youth placed, or about to be placed with the caregiver;
 - b) limitation in the ability of the caregiver to meet other written caregiver service expectations;
 - c) criminal charge or conviction of a caregiver or other member of the household:
 - d) court supervised parole or probation of a caregiver or other member of the household;
 - e) the onset or recurrence of a physical, emotional or mental condition or substance abuse problem of a caregiver or other member of the household, that could reasonably be expected to impair the caregiver's ability to care for the child:
 - f) serious illness or injury of a caregiver or other member of the household;
 - g) changes in the household composition (for example, people moving in or out of the household);
 - h) significant change in the caregiver's financial circumstances that have potential to affect the care of the child or youth; and
 - i) significant increase in the use of alternative care arrangements for the child or youth.

STANDARD B.3 Use of Physical Restraint

Children live in a home where physical restraint is used only in order to protect the child or others from immediate physical harm.

Commentary

There may be occasions when for a variety of reasons, the child is not able to cope successfully with the situation they find themselves in. On some of those occasions the child may not respond to the usual methods of de-escalating the situation. It may be necessary in those circumstances to use physical restraint in order to protect the child or others from immediate physical harm that they may be exposed to. If used, physical restraint involves the least control necessary to ensure immediate safety and is appropriate to the child's level of development and condition.

Results for Children

B.3.1 Children confirm they have been informed about potential situations in which physical restraint may need to be used in order to protect themselves or others around them from immediate harm.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

- B.3.2 Children confirm that if physical restraint has been used with them, they have been informed about the reasons for the intervention.
- B.3.3 Children confirm that if physical restraint has been used with them, they have participated in a debriefing of the episode with caregivers.
- B.3.4 Children confirm that if they have witnessed physical restraint being used, they have participated in a debriefing of the episode with caregivers.
- B.3.5 Children confirm that they have had their physical and emotional well-being assessed by caregivers following an episode requiring the use of physical restraint.

Caregiver Practices

- B.3.6 The caregiver uses their skills and knowledge in applying preventive measures in order to avoid situations that may lead to physical harm.
- B.3.7 The caregiver confirms that physical restraint may be used only to protect a child or others, including the caregiver, from immediate physical harm.
- B.3.8 The caregiver confirms they have made reasonable efforts to acquire the training needed to safely apply physical restraint. (See Appendix 2 for more information.)
- B.3.9 The caregiver confirms that if physical restraint has been used with a child, the reasons for the use of physical restraint have been explained to the child.
- B.3.10 The caregiver confirms that if a child has witnessed physical restraint being used, they have explained to that child the reasons for use of physical restraint.
- B.3.11 The caregiver confirms that they have assessed and, if necessary, addressed the child's physical and emotional well-being after physical restraint has been used.
- B.3.12 The caregiver confirms that if physical restraint has been used, the circumstances have been documented from both the caregiver's and the child's perspective.
- B.3.13 The caregiver confirms that if physical restraint has been used, it has been reported immediately to the child's social worker.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

C. **Planning**

STANDARD C.1 **Comprehensive Plan of Care***

Each child or youth is entitled to have a written, individual comprehensive plan of care which has been developed in consultation with the caregiver, the child and where possible, their parents.

* See Appendix 3 for more information.

Commentary

The caregiver is expected to be informed about the circumstances surrounding the child and to participate in the development and reviews of the child's comprehensive plan of care. The caregiver will have certain responsibilities under the comprehensive plan of care, including keeping the child's social worker informed about developments concerning the child. Caregivers are expected to accept responsibility for only those aspects of the comprehensive plan of care that they are capable of carrying out.

Results for Children

- C.1.1 Children confirm that, at or near the time of placement, the caregiver has provided an explanation for that placement based on the child's comprehensive plan of care and children confirm that they have understood the explanation.
- C.1.2 Children confirm that the caregiver has encouraged and assisted them to participate within their ability in the development and reviews of their comprehensive plan of care.
- C.1.3 Children confirm that the caregiver has attempted to help them understand the role of professionals who work directly with them, either at home or elsewhere.

Caregiver Practices

- C.1.4 The caregiver advocates for and participates in the development and reviews of the child's comprehensive plan of care.
- C.1.5 The caregiver encourages and assists the child to participate within their ability in the development and reviews of their comprehensive plan of care.
- C.1.6 Before or at the time of placement, the caregiver will have in their records the following information (if available from the child's social worker) to ensure the safety and well-being of the child accepted into the home:
 - a) the child's full name, gender, birth date and legal status;
 - b) the circumstances leading to the placement including:
 - family information relevant to caring for the child; i.
 - cautions or restrictions on the child's activities or contacts; and ii.

- iii. the names and telephone numbers of family members or significant others, as noted in the comprehensive plan of care, who are available as supports to the child;
- c) the child's known interests, abilities, strengths and presenting issues;
- d) the child's physical and emotional health and any health concerns, including required medications, allergies, dietary restrictions and physical limitations;
- e) the name of the child's social worker, the district office and telephone number, and the name and telephone number of the social worker or office to call in the case of an emergency;
- f) the child's physician's name and telephone number and child's personal health number;
- g) the name of the school or day program that the child is or has been attending;
- h) specific routine monitoring of the child as identified in the comprehensive plan of care.
- C.1.7 The caregiver keeps all information about the child and family confidential. The caregiver shares information only with other persons or agencies needed to carry out the child's comprehensive plan of care, or as permitted by law.
- C.1.8 In cases of emergency placements or in other instances where the information outlined above is not known to the child's social worker at the time of placement, the caregiver cooperates with the child's social worker to obtain the information as soon as possible.
- C.1.9 Before or at the time of placement, the caregiver discusses with the child's social worker the sleeping arrangements for the child to ensure that these arrangements meet the child's needs for adult supervision, safety, privacy and adequate sleep.
- C.1.10 Before or at the time of placement the caregiver discusses with the social worker (and the child's family as authorized by the child's social worker) the following:
 - a) the care needs of the child;
 - b) the steps to be taken by the caregiver and by the child's social worker to meet these needs. Immediate care needs include: emotional and physical safety, clothing, medication, continuity of school or vocational or day programs, and arrangements for impending appointments such as doctor's visits and court appearances;
 - c) the involvement of the child's family in matters such as visits and telephone calls, including any conditions and restrictions;
 - d) the involvement of any necessary support.
- C.1.11 At the time of placement the caregiver, in a manner that is sensitive to the emotional state and developmental level of the child:
 - a) introduces the child to the other members of the household;
 - b) shows the child the layout of the home and their sleeping area;
 - c) tells the child what the household routines, expectations and rules are:

- d) gives the child the opportunity to ask questions and discuss their concerns;
- e) attempts to help the child understand why they have been placed in the home; and
- f) attempts to help the child understand the role of professionals who work directly with them, either at home or elsewhere.

C.1.12 Following placement and on an ongoing basis, the caregiver provides the child's social worker with information about their experience with the child, including:

- a) progress in the desired outcomes outlined in the comprehensive plan of care;
- b) the child's current functioning in health, education, identity, family and social relationships, social presentation and emotional and behavioural development; and
- c) the caregiver's capacity to meet the caregiver's responsibilities under the comprehensive plan of care.

STANDARD C.2 Maintaining Relationships

Children are encouraged and supported to maintain relationships with their families and others of significance to them in accordance with their comprehensive plan of care.

Commentary

Continuity of quality relationships is one of the most important factors in achieving positive outcomes for children. Child welfare research indicates that children who experience continuity of quality relationships are less likely to have ongoing emotional and behavioural problems. Quality relationships provide a crucial network of support in the child's life. Whenever possible and in accordance with the comprehensive plan of care, children and youth are supported and encouraged to maintain and strengthen relationships with parents, siblings, extended family members, cultural community and any other significant relationships.

Results for Children

- C.2.1 Children confirm that they are encouraged and helped to maintain or restore contact with their parents, family and significant others in accordance with the comprehensive plan of care.
- C.2.2 Children confirm that in situations where it is determined by court order or in their comprehensive plan of care that it is not in their best interest to have contact with their parents, family or significant others, caregivers have made efforts to assist them in coming to terms with that decision.
- C.2.3 Children confirm that they are encouraged to develop and maintain positive friendships.

C.2.4 Children confirm that they are provided reasonable opportunities to receive visitors in the home, including family members and friends.

Caregiver Practices

- C.2.5 The caregiver fulfills their role and responsibilities with the child's family members, as specified in the comprehensive plan of care.
- C.2.6 The caregiver encourages the child to have contact with their family unless such access has been denied or restricted by the child's social worker, or court order.
- C.2.7 Unauthorized denials of visits, telephone contacts or correspondence with family members are not used by the caregiver as consequences for the child.
- C.2. When the comprehensive plan of care indicates that a child cannot have contact with their parents or family members, the caregiver helps the child come to terms with this.
- C.2.9 The caregiver encourages the child to develop and maintain positive friendships.
- C.2.10 Within the context of the child's comprehensive plan of care, the caregiver provides reasonable opportunities for the child to receive visitors in the home, including family members and friends.

STANDARD C.3 Transitional Planning

Children receive assistance in making successful transitions to new living circumstances as identified in the caregiver's responsibilities under the comprehensive plan of care.

Commentary

The move from one set of life circumstances to another can be accompanied by reactions similar to those a child may experience on first coming into foster care. An active and positive response from the caregiver in acknowledging and planning a response to the needs associated with such a transition will increase the likelihood that the transition will be successful for the child.

Results for Children

- C.3.1 Children confirm that they are prepared for transitions.
- C.3.2 Children who are leaving the care of a director confirm that the caregiver is enabling them to prepare for this eventuality.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team 19

- C.3.3 Children anticipating leaving the home are able to describe their involvement in making adequate plans for their future.
- C.3.4 Children confirm that they take their personal belongings with them when they move from the foster home.

Caregiver Practices

- C.3.5 The caregiver in conjunction with the child's comprehensive plan of care, engages in the preparation of the child for adulthood by:
 - a) assisting the child to build and maintain healthy relationships;
 - b) assisting the child to understand their own sexuality;
 - c) assisting the child to develop their self-esteem; and
 - d) teaching comprehensive life skills.
- C.3.6 The caregiver cooperates with the child's social worker in planning for the child's move from the foster home.
- C.3.7 The caregiver:
 - a) helps the child cope with their feelings about leaving the foster home;
 - b) helps the child develop a positive view of their next living arrangement;
 - c) reinforces the child's experience and gains made while in the foster home, and their readiness to move to a new experience; and
 - d) supports the plan for the child, whether they are moving home, to another placement, to an adoptive family or living independently.
- C.3.8 The caregiver packs all of the child's personal belongings and clothing in appropriate containers and sends them with the child when they move from the foster home.
- C.3.9 When the child moves from the foster home, the caregiver ensures that all original records and information about the child, including the health care passport, are given to the child's social worker.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

20

D. Caring For Children

STANDARD D.1 Positive Parenting

Children receive positive parenting.

Commentary

While children have the responsibility to adhere to a reasonable standard of behaviour, they have the right to know the standard of behaviour expected of them by their caregiver as well as the consequences for not meeting the caregiver's expectations. It is expected that caregivers will apply reasonable consequences sensitively and fairly, according to the child's level of development. In order to develop positive behaviour and social skills, children need to grow confident in their own ability to distinguish right from wrong. One way children learn positive behaviour and social skills is by observing and imitating adults who are worthy behaviour models.

Results for Children

- D.1.1 Children confirm that they receive the same quality of care as other children in the placement, including the caregiver's own children.
- D.1.2 Children confirm that the caregiver is interested in and cares about them as individuals.
- D.1.3 Children confirm that the caregiver assists them with issues which arise from daily living and developing appropriate behaviour.
- D.1.4 Children confirm that the caregiver does not use prohibited behaviour management methods.
- D.1.5 Children confirm that they have been informed of the standard of behaviour expected by the caregiver and the consequences for not meeting the caregiver's expectations.

Caregiver Practices

- D.1.6 The caregiver ensures to the fullest extent possible that the child receives the same quality of care as other children in the placement, including the caregiver's own children.
- D.1.7 The caregiver ensures that caregiving practices are consistent with the child's individual needs.
- D.1.8 The caregiver provides care and supervision appropriate to the child's age, level of development and ability to accept independence and responsibility.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

- D.1.9 The caregiver uses positive parenting methods. Positive parenting methods include those actions that:
 - a) are based on praise, encouragement, and structuring the setting for success;
 - b) are motivated to assist the child to learn responsibility and self-control;
 - c) teach or model appropriate ways of behaving;
 - d) are reasonable and directly related to the child's behaviour; and
 - e) respond to the child's behaviour as soon as possible.
- D.1.10 The caregiver, if authorized, assists the child's family to understand and use positive parenting methods.
- D.1.11 The caregiver does not use the following prohibited behaviour management methods which are expressly forbidden:
 - a) deprivation of a child's or youth's basic rights or needs (for example: food, clothing, shelter, bedding);
 - b) physical discipline (for example: spanking, shaking, slapping, hitting);
 - c) degrading actions (for example: humiliation, ridicule);
 - d) restraint, other than for the immediate physical safety of the child or youth, other children or youth, the caregiver or others;
 - e) seclusion (not including time-out) or confinement;
 - f) assignment of unreasonable exercise or work that may be excessive or harmful to the child or youth;
 - g) threats of removal from the care setting in order to manipulate or coerce the behaviour of the child or youth;
 - h) arbitrary or unauthorized denial of visits, telephone contact or correspondence with family members or guardians;
 - i) application of consequences in situations where it is not certain that the individual's behaviour has warranted them;
 - j) being disciplined by another child who has not been designated as a temporary caregiver; and
 - k) coercive behaviour by the caregiver regarding their religious or personal beliefs.
- D.1.12 The caregiver informs the child of the standard of behaviour expected by the caregiver and the consequences for not meeting the caregiver's expectations.
- D.1.13 If having difficulty managing the child's behaviour, the caregiver consults with the child's social worker as soon as possible, and with the child's parents if authorized.

STANDARD D.2 Culture and Religion

Children receive guidance and encouragement to maintain their cultural heritage and to participate in the religious activities of their choice.

Commentary

Cultural heritage can be defined as the shared customs, beliefs, behaviours and traditions of a particular ethnic group. The right to receive guidance and encouragement to maintain their cultural heritage promotes the child's positive sense of belonging and personal identity. Children also have the right to freedom of religion and the right to choose whether or not to participate in religious instruction or activities.

Results for Children

- D.2.1 Children confirm their cultural heritage is respected and supported.
- D.2.2 Children confirm that they have opportunities to maintain their cultural heritage.
- D.2.3 Children confirm that they have opportunities to choose whether or not to participate in any religious instruction or activities.
- D.2.4 Children confirm that they are not discriminated against on the basis of gender, sexual orientation, physical or developmental disability, culture, ethnicity, religion or race.

Caregiver Practices

- D.2.5 Within the context of the child's comprehensive plan of care, the caregiver provides the child with opportunities, guidance and encouragement to maintain their cultural identity.
- D.2.6 Within the context of the child's comprehensive plan of care, the caregiver accepts the child's choice whether or not to participate in religious instruction or activities.
- D.2.7 The caregiver encourages children to celebrate significant events in culturally appropriate ways.
- D.2.8 The caregiver encourages and assists the child to keep records of significant events.
- D.2.9 The caregiver does not promote their own culture or religion with the child unless required to do so as part of the child's comprehensive plan of care.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

STANDARD D.3 Preserving the Aboriginal Child's Unique Cultural Identity

Children of aboriginal heritage have their unique cultural identity preserved.

Commentary

Approximately one third of children in care in British Columbia are of Aboriginal ancestry, while Aboriginal people make up only 5% of the total population. The *Child*, *Family and Community Service Act* places a strong emphasis on respecting and safeguarding the Aboriginal child's unique cultural identity and ties to family, Aboriginal community and heritage. Aboriginal children develop a positive cultural identity by participating in their culture, by understanding their heritage and by learning of the experiences and achievements of persons of the same cultural background.

In addition to the requirements specified in Standard D.2, the following criteria apply to aboriginal children.

Results for Children

- D.3.1 Children of aboriginal heritage confirm that their cultural identity is preserved.
- D.3.2 Children of aboriginal heritage confirm that they have opportunities to maintain positive contact, involvement and participation with their aboriginal community.

Caregiver Practices

- D.3.3 The caregiver assists in preserving the aboriginal child's unique cultural identity as identified in the comprehensive plan of care.
- D.3.4 Within the context of the child's comprehensive plan of care, the caregiver assists the child of aboriginal heritage to maintain positive contact, involvement and participation with their aboriginal community.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team 24

STANDARD D.4 Leisure Activities

Children are encouraged to participate in appropriate and available leisure activities according to their abilities and interests.

Commentary

Participation in social and recreational leisure activities is an important aspect of a child's development and socialization, promoting confidence in their skills and abilities. Leisure activities include a wide range of social and recreational activities that are organized within the child's geographic, religious and cultural community. The child's social worker and caregiver should make an affirmative effort to search out available activities that are consistent with the child's interests, needs and abilities.

Results for Children

- D.4.1 Children confirm that they have opportunities to participate in available and appropriate leisure activities, according to their abilities and interests.
- D.4.2 Children confirm that they have been encouraged to express and identify interests.

Caregiver Practices

- D.4.3 The caregiver provides opportunities for the child to participate in available and appropriate leisure activities, according to the child's abilities and interests.
- D.4.4 The caregiver encourages the child to express and identify interests.

STANDARD D.5 Education

The education of children is actively promoted.

Commentary

As part of their development, children require stimulation that promotes competence and interest in learning. Education is a key to positive opportunities in adulthood. Child welfare research indicates that many children who come into care require extra assistance and support in school, at home and in the community in order to succeed in school.

Results for Children

D.5.1 Children confirm that they are encouraged, assisted and supported to achieve educational performance that matches their abilities.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

D.5.2 Children confirm that they are supplied with the necessary materials and an appropriate setting for study and homework.

Caregiver Practices

- D.5.3 The caregiver encourages, assists and supports the child to achieve educational performance that matches their abilities.
- D.5.4 The caregiver ensures the child has the necessary materials and an appropriate setting for study and homework.
- D.5.5 Within the context of the child's comprehensive plan of care, the caregiver takes an interest in the child's education, including:
 - a) providing the child with help with homework when necessary; and
 - b) participating in school events and meetings.

STANDARD D.6 Health

The health of children is actively promoted.

Commentary

Children have the right to receive medical and dental care when required to ensure their health, safety and well-being. The child's social worker and caregiver are required to ensure ongoing monitoring of the child's need for medical and dental care and treatment.

Results for Children

- D.6.1 Children are aware of their right under the *Infants Act* to consent to or refuse medical examination or treatment, and younger children are aware that their wishes will be taken into account, provided a health care provider considers them competent.
- D.6.2 Children who feel they have need for medical and dental services confirm that they receive the services on a timely basis from appropriate health care providers.
- D.6.3 Children confirm they are able to consult with their caregiver regarding a health concern.
- D.6.4 Children confirm that they are assisted with acquiring information on preventative health care.
- D.6.5 Children confirm that they live in a smoke-free environment.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

Caregiver Practices

D.6.6 The caregiver ensures that the daily health care needs of the child are met.

D.6.7 Within the context of the child's comprehensive plan of care, the caregiver arranges for routine medical and dental care for the child with the child's identified health care providers.

D.6.8 The caregiver assists the child with acquiring information on preventative health care.

D.6.9 The caregiver advises the child's social worker of any concerns regarding the child's physical or mental health.

D.6.10 The caregiver follows treatment procedures prescribed for the child by a medical or dental professional, and notifies the child's social workers of such treatments.

D.6.11 The caregiver keeps a written record of medical and dental services arranged for the child.

D.6.12 The caregiver obtains medical treatment from a qualified health care provider as quickly as possible when a child shows signs of serious illness or injury.

D.6.13 The caregiver assists in meeting the child's health care needs as identified in the comprehensive plan of care.

D.6.14 The caregiver provides a smoke free environment.

STANDARD D.7 Nutrition

Children are provided with nutritious food.

Commentary

A nutritious and healthy diet is an essential part of a child's development. It may be advisable for older children to be given increased responsibilities around meal preparation as part of developing life skills. Food is not to be used as a behaviour consequence for children under any circumstance.

Results for Children

D.7.1 Children confirm that they are provided with access to nutritionally sound meals, snacks and/or special diet requirements identified in the comprehensive plan of care.

27

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

D.7.2 Children confirm that they have the opportunity to eat at least some of their meals together with all other members of the household, and that they regard these meals as positive social events.

D.7.3 Children confirm that they are neither denied meals nor forced to eat.

Caregiver Practices

- D.7.4 In serving nutritious meals and snacks, the caregiver follows the Canada Food Guide and/or any special dietary requirements specified in the child's comprehensive plan of care; and gives consideration to the child's cultural and religious background, personal preferences and medical requirements.
- D.7.5 The caregiver provides the opportunity for the child to eat at least some of their meals together with all other members of the household.
- D.7.6 The caregiver ensures that the child is neither denied meals nor forced to eat.
- D.7.7 Within the context of the child's comprehensive plan of care, the caregiver provides the capable child with opportunities to budget for, plan, shop for and prepare their own meals.

STANDARD D.8 Personal Care

Children are assisted with making their own choices regarding their personal care.

Commentary

The capacity to consider available options and to select those that are in a person's best interest is considered to be a skill central to building effective life skills. The caregiver is in an ideal position to provide the child with opportunities to develop these skills. To the extent that this is done in a planned, consistent and regular fashion it will enhance the child's development.

Results for Children

- D.8.1 Children confirm that they have choice and opportunity in the purchase of clothing and personal necessities through normal shopping arrangements.
- D.8.2 Children confirm that they have the personal items necessary for their personal care, hygiene and grooming.
- D.8.3 Children confirm that they are provided with clothes that are of comparable style, quality and condition as those of other children.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

D.8.4 Children confirm that they are involved in the selection, care and maintenance of personal clothing as appropriate to their age and ability.

D.8.5 Children confirm that money they receive as gifts or allowances is treated as their own personal property.

Caregiver Practices

D.8.6 The caregiver ensures the child has the personal items necessary for their personal care, hygiene and grooming.

D.8.7 The caregiver provides the child with clothes that are of comparable style, quality and condition as those of other children in the community.

D.8.8 The caregiver involves the child in the selection, care and maintenance of personal clothing as appropriate to their age and ability.

D.8.9 The caregiver ensures that money the child receives as gifts or allowances is treated as the child's own personal property.

STANDARD D.9 Privacy and Personal Belongings

Children have reasonable privacy and possession of their personal belongings.

Commentary

Decisions made on privacy should be geared to the child's best interests, safety and well-being. The degree of privacy will vary depending on the child's age, needs and level of maturity. The degree of privacy may also depend on safety considerations in the home.

Results for Children

D.9.1 Children confirm they have privacy when using bathroom facilities unless otherwise indicated in the comprehensive plan of care.

D.9.2 Children confirm that they have privacy when dressing, spending time alone and communicating with others, unless there are safety considerations.

D.9.3 Children confirm that they are able to receive visitors, including family members and friends, in reasonable privacy and comfort unless there are safety considerations.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

- D.9.4 Children confirm that they are provided with privacy during discussions with a lawyer, the Office for Children and Youth, the Ombudsman, a Member of the Legislative Assembly, or a Member of Parliament.
- D.9.5 Children confirm they are encouraged by the caregiver to keep and display their personal belongings.
- D.9.6 Children confirm that they can keep their personal belongings safe and secure.
- D.9.7 Children confirm that the caregiver explains any limits which may be placed on having access to their personal belongings.
- D.9.8 Children confirm that in the event access to their personal belongings has been limited, the caregiver makes arrangements for their suitable storage.

Caregiver Practices

- D.9.9 The caregiver ensures the child has privacy when using bathroom facilities unless otherwise indicated in the comprehensive plan of care.
- D.9.10 The caregiver ensures the child has privacy when dressing, spending time alone and communicating with others, unless there are safety considerations.
- D.9.11 The caregiver ensures the child is able to receive visitors, including family members and friends, in reasonable privacy and comfort unless there are safety considerations.
- D.9.12 The caregiver ensures the child is provided with privacy during discussions with a lawyer, the Office for Children and Youth, the Ombudsman, a Member of the Legislative Assembly, or a Member of Parliament.
- D.9.13 The caregiver protects the child's privacy by requiring that written permission of the child's social worker is secured before the child is interviewed, photographed, filmed, video taped, tape-recorded or otherwise identified by anyone for a public or teaching purpose.
- D.9.14 The caregiver encourages the child to keep and display their personal belongings.
- D.9.15 The caregiver explains to the child any limits which may be placed on having access to their personal belongings.
- D.9.16 In the event that access to the child's personal belongings has been limited, the caregiver makes arrangements for their suitable storage.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team 30

E. Environment of Care

STANDARD E.1 Accommodation of Individual Children

Children are provided with a safe and healthy home environment that meets their individual needs.

Commentary

The condition of the physical surroundings can have a significant impact on the child's social, emotional and physical well-being. It is expected that the caregiver will take into account the opinions of children and their developmental needs in designing and maintaining the physical surroundings. Adapting successfully to living with others in a foster home requires a significant amount of accommodation on the part of the child. The child's capacity to modify some amount of space dedicated to their needs is likely to reduce the pressure of accommodation, enhance their sense of belonging, and increase the likelihood of their adapting successfully to that setting.

Results for Children

- E.1.1 Children confirm they feel safe and comfortable in their living environment.
- E.1.2 Children confirm that they each have their own bed.
- E.1.3 Children confirm that their bedroom space is of sufficient size to comfortably accommodate their needs.
- E.1.4 Children confirm that they were consulted and that they participated in arranging and decorating their personal space.
- E.1.5 Children confirm that they have reasonable access to toilet and washing facilities in accordance with local community norms.

Caregiver Practices

- E.1.6 The home, furnishings and equipment are safe, functional and suited to the developmental or special needs of each child placed in the home.
- E.1.7 The home has living or family room space available to all members of the household, of sufficient size to allow all members to join in family group activities.
- E.1.8 Where required by the comprehensive plan of care, the living space is modified to accommodate the needs of the child.

31

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

- E.1.9 The caregiver provides sanitary toilet and washing facilities in accordance with local community norms.
- E.1.10 Rooms commonly used for other purposes are not used as bedrooms for children. On occasion, temporary sleeping arrangements may be provided in response to an emergency, provided such arrangements have been approved by the child's social worker.
- E.1.11 All bedrooms have a door and at least one exterior window. The window(s) have curtains or blinds to provide privacy.
- E.1.12 Bedrooms are of sufficient size to comfortably accommodate the child's individual needs, including suitable storage or display space for the child's personal clothing and belongings.
- E.1.13 Each child has their own bed. Beds are clean, comfortable, in good condition, of sufficient size and have enough bedding to ensure warmth and comfort appropriate to the season.
- E.1.14 When using bunk beds, the following conditions are met:
 - a) the child using an upper bunk is over six years of age;
 - b) the upper bunk mattress is no more than one inch at any point from the bed frame;
 - c) the upper bunk has guard rail(s) on the open side(s);
 - d) the vertical distances between the upper mattress and the ceiling permit the child to sit up comfortably in bed; and
 - e) the guard rail(s), ladder and other components are in their proper positions, free from damage, and all connections are secure.
- E.1.15 Cribs and cradles comply with the federal *Hazardous Products Act* and its regulations and all other applicable laws.
- E.1.16 The caregiver ensures that a child over the age of one year does not share a bedroom with an adult unless otherwise stated in the comprehensive plan of care.

STANDARD E.2 Safety and Emergency Practices

Children receive care that promotes their safety and well-being.

Commentary

The safety and well-being of children are the paramount considerations under the *Child*, *Family and Community Service Act*. It is the responsibility of the caregiver and the child's social worker to take all reasonable steps to reduce the level of risk that a child

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

may be exposed to in the physical environment of the foster home. This is a fundamental requirement for the healthy development of the child.

Results for Children

- E.2.1 Children confirm that they know what to do and how to escape in the event of a fire or other emergency.
- E.2.2 Children confirm that they know what to do if they think something in the home or its surroundings is unsafe and confirm that any concerns have been, or would be, addressed satisfactorily.
- E.2.3 Children confirm that they have been advised of known hazards in the physical environment of the foster home.

Caregiver Practices

- E.2.4 The caregiver posts and ensures the child is aware of the current household emergency response plan for fires, earthquakes, disasters and other emergencies.
- E.2.5 The caregiver ensures that the household emergency response plan takes into consideration individuals who require assistance.
- E.2.6 The caregiver ensures that the household emergency response plan is practiced at least every six months and immediately following the placement of a child in the home.
- E.2.7 The caregiver advises the child of known hazards in the physical environment of the foster home.
- E.2.8 The caregiver ensures the child is supervised when in an area of the physical environment of the foster home containing known hazards.
- E.2.9 The home has at least two exits from each floor commonly used by household members as living or recreation space. Doorways, exits, ramps and stairs are kept unobstructed and readily accessible for exit.
- E.2.10 Each room commonly used for sleeping has at least one opening window equipped for emergency exit.
- E.2.11 The home has at least one functioning smoke detector or alarm approved by the Underwriter's Laboratories of Canada, mounted on or near the ceiling in the corridor of each sleeping area and on each floor. The detector(s) or alarm(s) are tested at least once per month. Batteries are changed at least once per year.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

- E.2.12 The home has at least one five-pound ABC fire extinguisher readily accessible to the kitchen. Fire extinguishers are tested once per year to ensure that they are fully charged and operable.
- E.2.13 There is a working telephone or other means of ensuring reliable and regular communication with others outside of the home.
- E.2.14 Emergency telephone numbers, including fire, police, doctor, ambulance and poison control, are clearly written and readily available by the telephone. If the home does not have a telephone, then clearly written instructions are readily available regarding how to ask for help outside of the home in an emergency.
- E.2.15 Heat, light, and ventilation are adequate for safe and comfortable occupancy.
- E.2.16 Heating systems including oil and gas furnaces, wood burning stoves, and fireplaces as well as electrical systems are properly installed and maintained.
- E.2.17 The home has a well-maintained first-aid kit which is readily accessible to household members. Any restrictions on accessibility will reflect consideration for the child's level of development and specific safety concerns as outlined in the comprehensive plan of care.
- E.2.18 All poisonous substances and medications are clearly labelled and stored in a locked location. Access by the child is based on consideration of their developmental level and on any specific safety concerns as outlined in the child's comprehensive plan of care.
- E.2.19 All dangerous and hazardous materials, objects and equipment are securely stored. Specific methods of storage are based on consideration of the child's developmental level or on any specific safety concerns as outlined in the child's comprehensive plan of care.
- E.2.20 All weapons are inaccessible to children, and are disassembled or made otherwise unusable.
- E.2.21 All firearms are stored in accordance with federal legislation and Department of Justice regulations, including the following requirements:
 - a) the firearm is unloaded;
 - b) the firearm is rendered inoperable by removing the bolt or installing a trigger lock; and
 - c) ammunition and firing mechanisms are stored separately from the firearm in securely locked containers or cabinets.
- E.2.22 Dogs, cats and other domestic animals maintained on the premises are kept in a safe and sanitary manner and according to provincial and local requirements. Dogs and cats maintained on the premises have up-to-date rabies vaccinations. Children are protected from animals which are potentially dangerous to them.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

- E.2.23 Outdoor play or recreation areas which are part of the physical environment of the foster home are safe and comply with any legislation and local by-laws and the following requirements:
 - a) play and recreational equipment are age appropriate, in good working condition and structurally sound;
 - b) all in-ground pools are enclosed with safety fences;
 - c) swimming pools are regularly tested to ensure the pool is free from contamination.
- E.2.24 The caregiver ensures that children are supervised at all times by a responsible adult while using swimming pools or trampolines.
- E.2.25 The caregiver ensures that all vehicles used to transport children:
 - a) meet Motor Vehicle Act requirements;
 - b) are maintained in safe condition;
 - c) include age appropriate, certified child restraint systems;
 - d) have adequate insurance necessary to carry out the caregiver's responsibilities, including motor vehicle third-party legal liability insurance coverage of at least one million dollars; and
 - e) are operated in a safe manner by a person with a valid driver's license of the appropriate classification.
- E.2.26 When a child is transported in a motor vehicle, the caregiver ensures that the child is properly secured in a certified restraint system, in accordance with the *Motor Vehicle Act* and Regulations and the Canadian Motor Vehicle Safety Standards. In addition, and whenever possible, the caregiver ensures that children twelve years of age and under are seated in the back seat.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team 35

F. Foster Home Administration

STANDARD F.1 Alternative Care Arrangements

Children receive appropriate child minding, overnight and relief care from individuals who have the necessary maturity, knowledge, skills and abilities to fulfill the responsibilities of looking after children.

Commentary

Alternative care arrangements involve situations when someone other than the child's usual caregiver provides care for the child on a temporary basis and include childminding situations, the child visiting overnight in another home and relief care services. It is the responsibility of the caregiver to ensure that a person providing temporary, alternative care for the child has the necessary maturity, knowledge, skills, and abilities to fulfill the responsibilities of looking after the child.

Results for Children

- F.1.1 Children confirm that they are advised and prepared when alternative care arrangements are made.
- F.1.2 Children confirm that they know what to do in the event of an emergency during an alternative care arrangement, including how to contact their social worker.
- F.1.3 Children confirm that child minding, overnight or relief care is consistent with that provided by their usual caregiver.

Caregiver Practices

- F.1.4 Child minding is an arrangement in which a person other than the child's usual caregiver provides care for the child for a time that does not extend overnight, and during which the caregiver is reasonably physically accessible to the child and the person caring for the child. The caregiver selects child-minding care providers using a process that ensures they are capable of providing the required quality of care to the children. The child-minding care provider is required to:
 - a) have the maturity, knowledge, skill and ability to meet the child's needs and follow through with child care routines for the period(s) of child minding;
 - b) use positive behaviour management techniques and appropriate discipline techniques;
 - c) be present and in charge for the period of child minding; and
 - d) know what to do in an emergency.

An F.1.5 Overnight arrangement refers to situations when the child visits another home overnight while the caregiver is reasonably physically accessible to the child and the

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team 36

person caring for the child. An example of this type of arrangement is when the child requests or is invited to sleep over at a friend's house. This does not include approved relief care or authorized overnight visits with family members. The caregiver approves overnight visiting arrangements for the child with persons who:

- a) satisfy the child's social worker that they are capable of ensuring the safety and well-being of the child;
- b) have the maturity, knowledge, skill and ability to meet the child's needs and follow through with child caring routines for the period(s) of overnight care provision;
- c) use positive behaviour management techniques and appropriate discipline techniques;
- d) will be present and in charge for the period of overnight care; and
- e) know what to do in an emergency.

F.1.6 Relief care is a planned arrangement in which a person provides care for a child for a period of time when the child's usual caregiver may not be reasonably accessible to the child or the person caring for the child. The caregiver selects persons to provide relief care services who:

- a) satisfy the child's social worker and resource social worker that they are capable of ensuring the safety and well-being of the child;
- b) have the maturity, knowledge, skill and ability to meet the child's needs and follow through with comprehensive plan of care responsibilities for the period(s) of relief care provision;
- c) use positive behaviour management techniques and appropriate discipline techniques;
- d) will be present and in charge for the period of relief care;
- e) know what to do in an emergency; and
- f) have no criminal record that would affect the care, safety and well-being of the child.

F.1.7 The caregiver ensures that relief care providers are informed, at a minimum, of the following:

- a) the whereabouts of the caregiver and how to contact them;
- b) what to do in the case of an emergency, including how to contact the child's social worker;
- c) the individual needs or circumstances of the child for whom they are assuming responsibility, as indicated in the child's comprehensive plan of care;
- d) the caregiver's obligations and responsibilities as outlined in the caregiver's written agreement with the director;
- e) the Standards for Foster Homes;
- f) the Foster Family Handbook; and
- g) the rights of children and youth in care.

- F.1.8 The caregiver ensures that arrangements for child minding, overnight or relief care are monitored to ensure the child's safety and well-being, and the caregiver:
 - a) identifies the person in charge of the setting where the child will be visiting;
 - b) confirms that the person in charge of the setting will be present during the child's visit;
 - c) provides to the child and the person in charge of the setting, a means of contacting the caregiver and the child's social worker;
 - d) follows up to confirm that the child is at the setting; and
 - e) ensures that the arrangement is consistent with the child's comprehensive plan of care.
- F.1.9 The caregiver notifies the child's social worker before making plans, not previously authorized, for the child to be cared for by another person overnight.
- F.1.10 The caregiver advises and prepares the child prior to the provision of an alternative care arrangement.
- F.1.11 The caregiver maintains written records which document that minimum requirements for child minding, overnight and relief care are met.

STANDARD F.2 **Child's Individual Service Records**

Children have accurate, individual, secure and confidential records of their relevant history and progress in the home.

Commentary

The child's individual service record contains information of a sensitive and highly personal nature about the child and possibly their family. The caregiver ensures the information is accurate and protected from unauthorized access. The child's individual service record is subject to legislation governing the protection of privacy and freedom of information, including the Child, Family and Community Service Act and the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. While the child's individual service record is maintained by the caregiver as part of their contractual obligations, the record is the property of the director responsible for the child. The child is entitled to access the record according to procedures in the relevant legislation and policy. The child's individual service record is an important part of the child's history.

Results for Children

- F.2.1 Children confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, the caregiver maintains an individualized service record about them.
- F.2.2 Children confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, their individual service records are stored securely.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

F.2.3 Children are provided support in gaining access to their records in accordance with procedures identified in legislation, including the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act* and the *Child, Family and Community Service Act*, and policy of the Ministry of Children and Family Development.

Caregiver Practices

- F.2.4 The caregiver keeps a separate individual service record for each child placed in the home.
- F.2.5 The caregiver keeps all information and documentation pertaining to the child in the child's individual service record, including:
 - a) intake information and documentation;
 - b) legal documents;
 - c) medical and dental information;
 - d) signed consent forms;
 - e) assessment information;
 - f) caregiver's current responsibilities under the child's comprehensive plan of care, and related reviews and reports;
 - g) a day book for the child that includes information regarding the child's normal daily routines, both current and recent past;
 - h) information regarding complaints made by the child;
 - i) documentation of reportable incidents involving the child;
 - j) documentation of service termination; and
 - k) other information and evaluations required to deliver and monitor services provided to the child.
- F.2.6 The caregiver maintains and stores the child's individual service record in accordance with relevant sections of the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*, the *Child, Family and Community Service Act* and records management procedures of the Ministry of Children and Family Development. This confidential record is kept in a locked location.
- F.2.7 The caregiver provides support to the child in gaining access to their individual service record in accordance with the procedures described in legislation, including the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act* and the *Child, Family and Community Service Act*, and Ministry of Children and Family Development policy.
- F.2.8 The caregiver does not permit the destruction of the child's individual service record.
- F.2.9 The caregiver gives a director access to the child's individual service record upon request.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team 39

Appendices

- Appendix 1. When a Child is Missing, Lost or Runaway
- Appendix 2. Key Elements of Training for Caregivers in the Use of Physical Restraint
- Appendix 3. The Comprehensive Plan of Care

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team 40

Appendix 1. When a Child is Missing, Lost or Runaway

As indicated in Standard B.2, when a caregiver has reason to believe that a child or youth in care is missing lost or runaway, it must be immediately reported to the child's social worker. If the child's social worker is unavailable, it must be reported to another social worker or supervisor in the same district office. If this occurs after regular office hours, it must be reported to an After Hours social worker. After Hours social workers are available 24 hours per day, seven days per week.

In situations when a child or youth is late coming home, the caregiver uses judgment as to whether or not the child may be missing, lost or runaway, giving consideration to:

- the child's age and level of development;
- the child's current psychological or emotional state;
- what is known about the child's current circumstances; and
- what is known about the child's past experiences and behaviour.

In addition to the reporting requirement, caregivers should consider taking other reasonable and prudent actions in an effort to locate the child, such as:

- actively seeking out and contacting anyone, such as friends of the child, who may know the child's whereabouts;
- identifying and checking possible locations where the child may be;
- ensuring that the child's social worker and the police are provided with all information pertaining to the possible whereabouts of the child;
- providing a current picture of the child to the police;
- providing a list of known friends and associates to the police;
- checking with the police regarding their efforts to locate the child; and
- ensuring all parties are notified when the child is located.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team 41

Appendix 2. Key Elements of Training for Caregivers in the Use of Physical Restraint

Physical restraint should be used by caregivers who have received appropriate training and skill development in the safe use of physical restraint when protecting a child, youth or others from immediate physical harm. Caregivers are encouraged to consult with the provincial office of the British Columbia Federation of Foster Parent Associations (BCFFPA) regarding the relevance and reliability of a training approach and its suitability to the care currently provided to children. A training "provider" should offer initial and ongoing training for caregivers including refresher courses at a minimum of six-month intervals. Training providers should also offer access to a resource information library, consultation, and easy access to training events. Appropriate training should include, but is not limited to the following key elements:

1. Prevention

training must equip caregivers with the information they need to effectively assess the safety risks within the home and daily living environment and have a major focus on how to prevent emergency situations from arising;

- training must provide caregivers with the skills necessary to recognize a crisis quickly and intervene most effectively;
- opportunity must be provided for caregivers to explore attitudes, style and beliefs which can influence how a caregiver responds;
- training must offer practical do's and don'ts both to safeguard the physical environment and for making a plan ahead of time for safely responding to a child at risk of immediate physical harm.

2. Crisis Management

- training must offer caregivers several options for quickly establishing safety for a child when harm is imminent;
- approach must consider the various needs and ages of children who may require intervention;
- training must be able to describe to the caregiver what they can do before, during, and after a crisis occurs.

3. Physical Restraint Methods

- training must offer a number of options for safely restraining a child when harm is imminent:
- these methods must show a range of ways to safely intervene, from the least intrusive to the most restrictive non-harmful way to physically restrain a child. In this way, the approach can be matched with the type of crisis situation encountered;

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team

- training must include a practical list of do's and don'ts for when, how and where to use techniques;
- training must also demonstrate and include the differences and correct use of both one- and two-person restraints;
- the approach must be flexible and considerate of the different needs, ages and size of the child being protected from harm;
- guidelines must also include how to release and ensure the continued safety of the child and others affected by the event when the risk of harm has passed.

4. Guidelines

- training must discuss the need for debriefing the event and give suggestions to caregiver for how to do this with the child and others affected or needing to know;
- there must be discussion about how to effectively record what took place so that evaluation and planning can help to safeguard against future episodes;
- training must assist caregivers in making a plan ahead of time for how to respond when a child is in immediate physical danger.

5. Approach

Training approach must provide face-to-face instruction for caregivers and include opportunities to role play and learn skills experientially. Such an approach will reduce likelihood of injury for a child, caregiver or others and will further strengthen prevention skills.

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team 43

Appendix 3. The Comprehensive Plan of Care

The child's guardianship social worker is responsible for ensuring:

- that a written, individualized, comprehensive plan of care is in place within thirty days of the decision to bring the child into care; and
- that the plan is reviewed and updated within three months after the initial plan is developed and every six months thereafter while the child is in care (or more frequently if specified in the comprehensive plan of care or if circumstances arise that make a review necessary).

The comprehensive plan of care is developed in partnership with the caregiver, the child and other involved and appropriate persons.

The comprehensive plan of care includes:

- information that identifies the child (name, date of birth);
- the overall goal for the child;
- assessment of the current status of the child's:
 - o health;
 - o education
 - o identity;
 - o family and social relationships;
 - o social presentation;
 - o emotional and behavioural development;
 - o self-care skills;
- for each of the dimensions above the following is noted:
 - o current functioning;
 - o work required;
 - o desired outcomes;
 - o person(s) responsible;
 - o target date;
 - o date completed;
 - o comments:
- the views and signature of the child, the caregiver, the child's social worker, the child's parent (if appropriate) and any other appropriate planning participants; and
- a schedule for the review of the plan.

DATE: May 2008

CONTACT: Child Welfare Policy Team